
United Nat ions 

GENERAL 
ASSEMBLY 
THIRTY-FOURTH SESSION 

OfficW.l Records* 

SUf:!"1ARY R!<:CORD OF '!'H"2 21st l'~EETI'TG 

Chairman: !fr. ~.flJRGESCU ( Rol!'.ania) 

CO~T'I'E'.!TS 

S:CC07TD C0~·~1I'J'T~F. 

21st Pleetin:; 
held on 

Thursday, 25 October 1979 
at 3 n.r.1. 

New York 

AGE:'JDA I TEl'<'! 61: FOOD PROBLE!1S : P-SPO"RT OF' TH"S T·!OPLD FOOD COUT:-CIL ( ~O.!_l_~i!l~_d) 

AGENDA ITEN 58: ITTI'i:'ED NATIO!TS HTSTirrUTE FO~ TPvU'!PTG A'•;D RES><;_I\RCE: 

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 

• This record is subject to correction. Corrections should be incorporated in a copy of 

the record a>•d should be sent within one week of the date of publication to the Chief, 

Official Records Editing Section, room A-3550. 

Corrections will be issued shortly after the end of the session, in a separate fascicle for 

each Co'Timittee. 

79-57805 

Distr. GENERAL 

A/C. 2/?,l~ /SP... 21 
29 October 1979 

O?IGETAL: :P.:'~GLISn 

I ... 



A/C.2/34/SR.21 
Enc;lish 
Page 2 

AGENDA ITEM 61: FOOD PROBLEIIS: REPORT OF THE HORLD FOOD COUNCIL (cor~i:,inue_d) 
(A/3!+/19) 

1. Hr" SALERNO (Observer) European Economic Comr.mnity) said that the European 
Econo;ic C~unity shared the concern of the Executive Director of the \Torld Food 
Council regardinr; the 1rorld food situation. In spite of national and international 
efforts and advances in production techniques, progress had been frustrated by 
population growth and structural difficulties, vrhich in fact had aggravated the 
world food situation. 

2. Famine and malnutrition 1-rere the main problems that humanity must face. 
EEC was mrare of that fact, and actively co ,operated 1rith the various bodies within 
the United Nations system:. it also engac;ed in bilateral and multilateral efforts 
to contribute to the solution of food problems. It had welcomed the completion of 
the discussions in the Cornnittee on Food Aid Policies and Programmes on 
recommendations and criteria for food aid. As one of the main donors to the \Vorld 
Food Programme) the Community hoped that the General Assembly would adopt the draft 
resolution on the subject approved by the Economic and Social Council. It 
reiterated its support for the tarr;et of $1 billion in contributions for the next 
period (1930~-1982). It had duly taken note of the statement by the Committee on 
Food Aid Policies and Proc;rammes that a larger portion of food aid should be 
channelled throuc;h the ~Torld load Programme. It agreed that the Programme 1 s 
resources devoted to emergency assistance should be increased and honed that 
co·,operative progrannnes -vrith other bodies would be -vrorked out. 

3. EEC endorsed the resolution adopted at the fifth session of UNCTAD 0 urging the 
resumption and successful conclusion of the nec;otiations on a nev international 
c;rain arrane:ement. l:Torld food security and market stabilization -vroulcl only stand 
to benefit from such an arranc;ement. The FAO Five ·Point Plan of Action on world 
food security was also a sien of proc;ress in that field. Although many aspects of 
the Plan 1-rere interestinc;. it 1ms only provisional and could not serve as a 
substitute for a ne-vr grain agreement. The Cmmnunity fervently hoped that the 
countries which had participated in the Conference 1-mulcl strive to find a vray of 
successfully concluding the negotiations. 

lL Hith rec;ard to bilateral and multilateral efforts outside the United Nations 
system, he said that 36 per cent of the aid programmed under the Lome Convention, 
or nearly (a billion for the period 1976-1930 ~· related to rural development 
activities. ~'luch of that aid was for intep;rated rural development projects aimed 
primarily at increasing food production. Furthermore" the amounts devoted to rural 
development activities in developinc; countries other than those participating in 
the Lome Convention had increased [Sreatly, from ~127. 5 million in 1976 to 
~aso million in 1979. Eost of the projects 1-rere aimed at promotinr; the development 
of food crops and strengthening food security. They also involved contributions to 
international research institutes operating under the auspices of the Consultative 
Group on International Ac;ricultural Research in the Philippines, India, Peru and 
Colombia. 



A/C, :'/Jl~,/SR, 21 
Enc;lish 
Pat:;e 3 

( T !r ~--~-~l_e!~O- -~Op _§_e_r_ver;_ E:P.:_C) 

5, It uas important to note that the level of carry··over stocl<::s in the European 
Economic Corrmmni ty, 1rhich vras normally about 4, 5 million metric tons, hacl reached 
7,5 million metric tons in 1979, In future, the Community planned a more active 
stocl:inr; policy, keepint:; in mind both uorld food security and the stabilization of 
the Community and Horld markets. It vras also mrare of the important role vrhich 
EEC played internationally in the import of agricultural products. Its total 
impo~ts of those products had amounted to approximately ~;37 billion in 1977, half 
of vrhich had been from developint:; countries, mostly free of charQ;e or Hith 
ad valorem custom duties ranc;in{'; only from 4 to 20 per cent. For almost half of 
thos_e_ imp-orts , the Community accorded preferences to developinr; countries under the 
Generalized System of Preferences, the Lome Convention or agreements with 
r!edi terrane an countries, 

6. The Community Hished to stress the importance of the 1rorlc of the fifth session 
of the Uorld Food Cmmcil, and hoped that the Council vrould continue to make a 
positive contribution to the solution of vrorld food problems, EEC \vas ready at all 
times to offer its full support and co-operation in findin<>: the most appropriate 
machinery to ensure uorlcl food security. 

7, llr. LLOYD (Australia) said that his delec;ation shareCl. the concern expressed 
by the. -Execut-ive Director of the Forld Food Council regardinG the increasingly 
difficult vorld food situation. 'Ihe nroblem vas particularly acute for developin,n; 
countries, where food ~f)roduction had not l~ept pace Hith risinc; food needs. As a 
result. many developinr, countries uere becor1inr; increasinc;ly dependent on imported 
foocL The steep increases in the prices of l·rheat and coarse e;rain had exacerbated 
the situation, His delegation ac;reecl lvith the Executive Director that the vrorld 
hunger problem seemed to be getting Horse" and that a major crisis mirrht ensue 
unless a concerted effort vas made to forestall iL Deneued efforts must 
therefore be made to increase over··all food production. 

8. The fifth session of the Horld Food Council had rie;htly stressed the value of 
developing national food sector stratec;ies, ~s stated by the Council, that 
approach offered a promising instrument for food-deficit countries to review their 
food efforts to provide a frame1vork for identification and preparation of 
investment projects, and. vrhere desirable, to step up the capacity and 
mobilization of investment, includinc; additional external finance. His delee;ation 
velcomed the action already taken by a number of clevelopinp; countries to develop 
such stratec;ies. 'Ihe Council had also correctly e1:1phasized that more attention 
must be paid to structural reforms I·Ti th emphasis on iml)roved land tenure, more 
equitable access to services and credit, technoloc;y adapted to the needs of 
developinc; countries and decentralization of the decision-·maldnc; process. Hithout 
proper direction ancl a substantial increase in food production Hithin the 
developing countries themselves, it uas quite possible that the international 
commvnity and the countries concerned uould not be able to handle and finance the 
food imports 1-rhich Hould then be reguirecL 

o His delec;ation uelcomec1 the adoption by the Second Comn1ittee of the draft 
resolution on the Conference and had been :o;enerally pleased uith the outcowe of tho 
HorLl Conference on Ac;rarian Reform and Rural Development (A/C, 2/3L>/L, (;), 



A/C.2/34/SR.21 
I"Gne;lish 
Pae;e 4 

(!'·~~_:___l:.loyd, ~A.ustr~lia) 

10. Australia strone;ly supported the negotiation of a ne1v International Hheat 
Ae;reement, and 1-rould support resumption of negotiations as soon as feasible. 
Hovrever, the United TT8,tions Conference should not be reconvened before sufficient 
progress -vras made to-vrards resolvin,o; the differences amon[!; the major participants. 
Only a commercially viable ac;reement 1-Jith adequate safe,«;uards for normal commercial 
trade -vrould c;enuinely improve lont>;·-term -vrorld food security. 

11. Australia also supported the need for a minimum level of foon. aid in order 
to insulate food aid pror;rammes from excessive fluctua,tions in production and 
processing. The most suitable mechanism for ensurinf( food aid flovrs vras the Food 
Aid Convention 1-rhich his delegation savr as linked to an International \}heat 
Ar;reement. It recor;nized 0 however that others did not share its vievr and 1-ras 
prepared to reconsider its position. 

12. As a leading food producer) Australia uas continuing to play an important role 
in easing the uorlcl_ 's food problems. It had allocated over ~;58 million in 1979 
for the food aid progrB~~e, an increase of nearly 22 per cent over expenditure in 
1978. It had repeatedly endorsed the international target of 10 million metric tons 
of food aid per annum" and >vould urge traditional and new donors to be forthcominc; 
in achieving that target. Australia had indicated that its minimum food aid 
commitment under a nev Food Aid Convention Hould be increased by 78 per cent, from 
225,000 to ~.oo 0 000 metric tons per annum" compared to the average increase by 
existing donors of 40 per cent. 

13. His deler,ation liaS particularly conscious of the need for an adequate 
international emere;ency food reserve to meet 13rmrine; emergency needs. It had 
supported the International Emergency Food Reserve since its inception in 1977 0 

endorsed its tare;et of 500,000 metric tons of c;rain and would encourage ne1v donors 
to come for1-rard in order to ensure its attainment. Australia's former contribution 
of 10 5 000 metric tons of c;rain had been increased to 30,000 tons in 1979~1980. 

14. Australia's contribution to the Horld Food Prop;rarrnne 1vas also expected to rise 
significantly in 1979 1980. The amount of 1-rheat channelled throur;h HFP -vras to be 
increased proE;ressi vely to 20 per cent of all Australia's food c;rain aid. The cash 
and commodities pleo_,~e of ;:;7 million for 1977-~1978 -vrould rise to ~9.1~ million for 
1979 -1980. In 1979 1980. the totc-,1 value of Australia's assistance to 1JFP -vrould 
be approximately ;:as million. 

15. His delegation fully ae;reed -vrith the concern expressed in the report of the 
World Food Council (A/34/19) regarding those protectionist trade practices that 
adversely affected the export possibilities of developing countries in particular. 
Such practices also created difficulties for efficient developed country procl.ucers 9 

and their cost to developinc; and developed countries alike should not be ic;nored. 

16. I~~-"- LOHA]g_ (Nepal) said that, despite recent improvements in the 1wrld food 
situation .. the food ·deficit developinr; countries continued to face hardships. The 
per capita food production of develc>in,o; countries had stac;nated, and that of the 
least--aeveloped and most seriously affected countries had either remained the same 



h/C,'?_/J4/S"',21 
En!"lish 
Page 5 

(! Ir ~ L_()~ani:_ _ TT ep_al:_) 

or declined, It 1ras c;enerally agreed that TIOrld food problems could be solved by 
increas inc; the food product ion of develm)inrr countries, Those countries uere 
maldnc; efforts to develop the food and ap:ricultural sector of their economies. 
TJhile the primary resnonsibility for the solution of their fooo. Droblel<l restecl uith 
the developing countries themselves. the inmortance of internation2.l st1p1Jort ancl. 
co~·operation could not be m.inimizerL 

17, A consensus vo.s eTI<er~inr; on the main elements of the development strate['y for 
the food and ac;ricultural sector' an incressed flou of external capital for 
investment, a larc;er supply of physical inputs, transfer of technolor:y anel_ a 
suitable institutional infrastructure, It ha.c1 been an;reed in the Committee of the 
Uhole T::stablished under General Assembly Resolution 32/174 that external assistance 
of <;8, 3 billion. Hith ~:;G, 5 billion on concessional terms at 1975 p:dces ~ 1-mulcl 
have to be made available by the end of 1900 if the tarr;et of LJ ner cent annual 
c;rm,rth rate in ar;ricultural production of developinc; countries Has to be reachecL 
It >ms reported hm,rever" that current and projected levels of investment in foocl_ 
production and distribution -vrould not meet the food needs of the uorlo_; s c;rovinc; 
population, 

18, It 1ras C]_uite obvious that vic;orous anc~ concerted action on the part of the 
international community alone could mal~e possible the achievement of food security 
in the next decade. nevertheless, a world foocl security system ·uas hi?;hly 
desirable to make up for the inevitable shortfalls in production, 'I'he conclusion 
of a neu International '!heat i\c;reer.1ent and a neT·T Food Aid Convention 1.rere the 
critical corrlponents of vorld food security_ The proposal to raise the tarr;et for 
the Food Aio_ Convention to 15 ·l:'l million tons by 1905 1.ras reasonable., and his 
dele,n;ation vas pleased that the FAO Five- Point Plan of Action had been enc'l.orsed by 
the ~Torld Food Cmmcil, It uas to be hoped that, in response to the Council • s 
appeal, countries lac;c;inn; behind in contribEtions to the International Emerr-ency 
Food Reserve i·Tould malce contributions in order to achieve the tarc;et" In viev of 
the e;ro-vrinp; requirements of developin,n: countries, food aid should be substantially 
enlare;ecl: and it should be essentially in crant form so far as the least C:evelopecl 
and most seriously affected countries vere concernecL 

19, Al thouc;h liberalization of food tracl_e had been lool<;:ed fonrard to as an 
effective means of strenc;theninr; the economic development and helpinri to meet the 
food needs of developinc countries, reports indicated that their share of 
ac;ricultural exports had continued to decline, One of the najor factors 
responsible for that situation was the 1ridespread protectionism nractised in 
developinc; countries, One of the central ta~lcs of the seconc1 ui;dmr of the Comrn.on 
Ftmd should be to finance research and development in order to promote and diversify 
the ar;ricultural exports of developinc countries and increase their competitiveness 
in uorld marlcets, 

20, International ac;encies and rec;ional comr.1issions should provide facilities for 
developinc; countries to strengthen their project fonmlation and implementation 
capabilities- The least cleveloped countries should be provided uith technical 
assistance in the identification and formulation of investment pron_:rammes ancl 
projects in the food sector, It uas to be hoped that FAO -vrould continue to nlay a 
vital role in providinc; assistance both for trainin~ facilities and for project 
formulation, 



A/C. 2/31~/SR, 21 
Enp:lish 
Pap;e 6 

(Hr. Lohani, ITeDal_) 

21. His deler;ation "l·rished to e~:press its appreciation to the Canadian Government 
for allocatinc; a special fund of ::;2 million for technical assistance to developine; 
countries in preparinc; national food strater-;ies for the 1980s. It had also noted 
Hith appreciation the offer made by the Indian llinister of Rural Reconstruction to 
share India~s experience in agriculture by extending co-.operation, consultancy 
and assistance to other developing countries. 

22. His delegation vrished to reaffirm the continuinr; need for the FAO Technical 
Co .. operation Prop;ramme. lc'lany FAO activities 9 including special action pror;rarnmes ,, 
had greatly benefited the developing countries. His delegation uas confident the.t 
FAO vould continue to contribute effectively to the improvement and development of 
food and ar;riculture, •.rhich vrould be an essential component of a ne1v- international 
order based on justice and equity. 

23. Mr. HALTO~T_ (Food ancl. Agriculture Orr;anization of the United ~Tations) said 
that the persistence and deterioration of the world food problem did not result 
from the lack of a strate(!,y) but froi'l the failure to apply effectively in :9ractice 
\·That had been ar;reed upon in principle. He stressed the importance of the role of 
Ministries of Agriculture in that connexion. and ure;ed that all Hinistries 
concerned should recognize the importance of mal\:ing difficult decisions if food 
problems were to be alleviated. 

21~. On the basis of preliminary figures, it must be stated that any increase in 
world food and agricultural pruduction in 1979 1wulcl be the smallest since 1972, 
when food production had actually decreased. For the developinc; countries as a 
"lvhole. the increase vras provisionally estimated at 2 per cent, Hhich was less than 
population grmrth. It -vras possible that the developine; marl\:et economies of the 
Far East 1vould experience a decline in production for the fourth time in the 
current decade. FA0 1 s Early Harninc; System had recorded unfavourable crop 
conditions in 32 countries, compared >.rith 19 at the same time in 1978. The food 
situation in Kampuchea had reached a stage of advanced crisis. 

25. In addition to its analysis and prescription activities, FAO 
primarily involved in practical field action to help Governments 
their problems of agricultural production and rural development. 
progrrumnes uere sic;nificant among those activities, and a number 
sinpled out by the Horld Food Council for particular support. 

Has, of course, 
in conine; with 
Special action 

of them had been 

26. Of particular importance among those procrammes was the Food Security 
Assistance Scheme., whose purpose "\vas to help countries to build up their national 
food reserves. Because of the failure of the nee;otiations on a neH international 
grains arrancement, increased support for that scheme was one of the objectives of 
the FAO Fi ve~Point Plan for -vrorld food security. Voluntary contributions to the 
scheme currently totalled 035 million, but much more was needed. 

27. The Programme for the Prevention of Food Losses stemmed directly from the 
resolution adopted by the General Assembly at its seventh special session. 
Projects at the farm and villac;e level emphasized storage and the training of 
farmers. Contributions >Tere still more than $4 million short of the target of 
$20 million set by the Conference of FAO in 1977. 



A/C.2/34/SR.21 
Enc;lish 
Pac;e '7 

( Hr-= _ ~l?;l_t_sm , FA_Q) 

28. The Seen Improvement and Development Pro~ramme assisted developinG countries 

in the development and evaluation of crop varieties 5 and in seed production, 

q_uali ty control ancl. nistribution. A ":20 million target had been supported by the 

Conference of FAO ,. the Horld Food Council 0 the General Assembly and the Committee 

of the \Jhole, but actual contributions fell far short of that figure. 

29. Other programraes included the International Fertilizer Supply Scheme) the 

proGramme of assistance in the development and management of fisheries in exclusive 

zones and the programme for the control of African animal trypanosomiasis. All 

of those programmes urgently required funds 0 and he hoped that the support of the 

\-Jorld Food Council and the General Assembly could be translated into increasec. 

contributions. 

30. The 1-Torld Food Council had placed r,reat emphasis on national food sector 

strategies. FAO had done some vrork in that field,. for instance its perspective 

study of the agricultural development of the Sahelian zone. Its regional food 

plan for Africa was being translated into specific plans and programmes at the 

country leveL The decision whether to embark on the preparation of a food sector 

strategy should be made by countries individually. FAO was ready to help them if 

requested but , before Governments embarl<::ed on such a strategy,. they shoulcl have a 

clear idea of how it vras c;oing to be translated into actual decisions on policies 

and the allocation of funds,. including decisions on external aieL FAO coulc. play 

an important role in the identification and preparation of investment projects. 

It had mobilized approximately :;o billion for investment activities over the past 

three years through its co--operation with the Horld Bank, the International Fund 

for Agricultural Development and other sources of finance. 

3L Hr. GORITZA.-_ (Romania) said it \vas a cause of concern that, instead of 

decreasinc;, the strain on the uorlc1 food situation, the severe malnutrition 

suffered by millions of people in developing countries and the food gap betvreen 

those countries and the aeveloped countries, \vere increasinr;. His delegation 

endorsed the Uorld Food Council 1 s urgent appeal to the international community to 

elaborate a strategy that 1-rould lead to far -reachine; changes in the structure of 

the 1vorld food economy. Appro:9riate steps should be taken immediately to increase 

agricultural production in developing countries as a prerequisite for food_ 

security. Sustainecl efforts on the part of every developing country were required 

for that purpose 0 and international co· -operation and assistance from developed 

countries and international organizations should be significantly increased. 

32. Romania considered that a special programme 0 running until the year 2000, for 

agricultural development in developin,s countries should be drawn up under United 

nations auspices and uith the participation, in particular, of FA0 0 IIi'AD and the 

Horld Bank. The proc;rarnme should include subproe;rammes w·ith clear and definite 

objectives and specific deadlines vrhich should be monitored periodically" a role 

that could be played by the Horld Food Council. 

33. International negotiations had not yet resulted in action to overcome the 

difficulties besettin~ international trade in food products. It was therefore 

necessary? especially for developed countries, to take steps to facilitate the 



A/C.2/34/SR.21 
English 
Page 8 

(Hr. Goritza., Romania) 

access to international markets of exports from developing countries. Furthermore" 
the Generalized System of Preferences should be expand2d to cover as many 
manufactured and semi--manufactured food products as possible from developinc: 
countries. 

3~-. 'l'he discussions of food and agricultural problems in the Committee of the 
Hhole had furnished a broad perspective on the situation and led to conclusions 
regarding the measures that must be taken to overcome the difficulties in that 
field. Although the measures ae;reed upon by the Committee of the Vlhole did not 
really meet the needs of the developing countries, they could serve to strengthen 
international assistance for the development of agriculture and the food industry 
in developing countries. They could also assist in eliminating the obstacles to 
international trade in agricultural and food products, expanding their access to 
the markets of developed countries and establishing remunerative prices for the 
agricultural exports of developing countries. Those statements of intent should, 
hm-rever, be translated quickly into action; other1·rise" the necessary conditions 
for finally ending hune;er and malnutrition would not be met. 

35. Hr. HAilmn (Chile) said his delegation l'las glad that the Uorld Food Council 
had been able--to reach a consensus on a number of action·-·oriented recommendations, 
rather than mere generalities. The Council had made valuable suggestions 
concerning the need for structural chane;es into the 1vorld food economy, the 
desirability of establishing national food strategies, a system of world food 
security and greater assistance to the developing countries in increasing food 
production. One of the most interesting recommendations was that food-·deficit 
countries should consider the establishment of a high·level food management 
authority to oversee the preparation and implementation of a national food 
stratec:y. An interministerial co··ordinating com.rnittee of the type suggested would 
make it possible to keep a more careful eye on all aspects of a food strateBY, 
such as production, distribution" nutrition and food security. It must,, of course, 
be understood that it 1-ras for individual countries to decide vrhether they needed a 
food strategy, and that development aid agencies must not mruce their assistance 
conditional on the preparation of such strategies. 

3G. The Council 1 s recommendations regarding the implementation of the decisions 
reached by the Committee of the Whole w·ere also interest inc: c particularly important 
\vere the recommendation that the resources of IFAD should be replenished and the 
appeal to donor countries to increase their contributions to the International 
Fertilizer Supply Scheme and the Special Account for FA0 1 s Action Programme for 
Prevention of Food Losses. 

37. T1-ro of the recommendations were of special importance to Chile. The first 
was that agricultural research capacity in developing countries should be 
strengthened through both national and international efforts. His delegation 
believed that, in countries where land was the limiting factor in increasing 
agricultural production, it was vital to have a technological policy that would 
enable agricultural potential to be exploited to the full and that could serve as 
a complement to pricing policies. In the case of Chile, a special research 

/ ... 



A/C. 2/3)~ /SFL 21 
Enc;lish 
Pac;e 9 

( £1!.=__ :·r a~~_r_. _C]_l_~_l_e_) 

r-rogramme had made it possible to increase uheat production by 1~5 per cent. Chile 
uas therefore in favour of increasine; financial aid for research into products 
where there Has a comparative advantage, and the financin[S of extension 1-rork to 
reduce the lag betv1een technology in the research laboratory and at the farm 
level. Public expenditure on agricultural research in Chile had increased almost 
eie;ht times betvreen 1959 and 1977. The system of establishing research priorities 
had also been improved) 1Tith funds being allocated preferably to products in ~rhich 
Chile enjoyed a comparative advantage. Clearly, agricultural research could play 
an extremely positive role in solving world food problems. ~1oreover, successful 
agricultural research in the developing countries themselves could have a valuable 
impact on technical co-~operation among developing countries and strengthen the 
concept of collective self-reliance. The Chilean Government was ready to share 
1-Tith other developine; co1.mtries the results of its national agricultural research. 

38. One of the conclusions of the Committee of the vJhole vrhich the report of the 
lvorld Food Council (A/34/19) unfortunately omitted to mention concerned the support 
which donor countries should give to FA0 1 s programme of assistance to developing 
countries in the exploitation of fisheries in their exclusive economic zones. The 
Executive Director of the Council had stressed the importance of fish as a source 
of protein, and his delegation was entirely in favour of placing the subject on 
the agenda of the sixth session of the Council and givinp: it priority. 

39. The failure to negotiate a ne1.r International Arrangement to replace the 
International Hheat Agreement, 1971, as extended, vras indeed regrettable. As 
noted in the report) such an Arrangement and a new· Food Aid Convention were key 
elements of Horld food security, in view of the steady decline in the production 
and availability of food over the last 10 years. The early resumption of 
nefjotiations on a ne1-r International Hheat Agreement establishing appropriate 
reserves and trade patterns and procedures for preventing violent price 
fluctuations and alleviating the effects of poor harvests was essential. His 
delegation endorsed the recommendation that the conclusion of a ne\.r Food 1\.id 
Convention should not await acceptance of a vJheat Agreement, and that aid should 
be increased from the l!. 2 million tons envisaged in the current Convention to a 
minimum of 10 million tons a year. The conclusion of a convention of that kind, 
no later than the middle of 1980, uould be a vital step towards the system of uorld 
food security vrhich 1vas essential in order to minimize the effects of cyclical 
fluctuations in Horlcl production that threatened food supplies, particularly in the 
developing countries. 

l!O. Another important step towards a system of food security 1-ras the FAO Five--Point 
Plan of Action adopted in March 1979. There were a number of considerations vrhich 
should be borne in mind in that respect. For instance, if a system of national 
reserves to ensure a minimum 1-rorld supply \vas to be viable for any length of time, 
all countries would have to contribute to the formation of those reserves, and that 
meant that the countries Hith the greatest deficits, which would be the most 
affected by a shortage, would be forced to maintain the largest reserves, even 
though they were precisely the ones least able to finance such an operation. It 
would also be important, in order to attain the objective of stabilizin~ prices, 
for all countries to participate in setting up the grain reserves in proportion to 



A./C. 2/34/SR. 21 
Enc;lish 
Pae;e 10 

( l_1r ~ _ _I! all~er ~_!l_il_~) 

their importance in the 1vorld market. At the same time, price stabilization 
policies, while introducinc; a security factor, affected the optimum allocation of 
resources. Thus" to reduce the distorting effect" it vrould be advisable for the 
largest possible nmnber of agricultural products to be covered by policies of 
stabilization through a system of reserves. Careful negotiations would be needed 
to define functions and responsibilities. Chile was therefore in favour of 
holcUne; early conversations I·Tith a vievr to implementing the J:i'ive ·Point Plan 
sugc;ested by the Director·General of J:i'AO. 

41. There i.JaS a tendency to confuse a country's e;rain deficit w·ith a food deficit, 
but the case of Chile showed that that was incorrect. In the five -year period 
1973-19'77 ,, the agricultural sector had had an annual grmvth rate of 8. 7 per cent. 
That increase" well above the 4 per cent target for the developinc; countries, had 
been clue to the fact that the reduction in wheat production had been more than 
offset by an increase in the production of fruit and livestock. Self··sufficiency 
in grain on the part of the developing countries 1vas not the best solution to the 
vrorld food problem. That solution could only be found in the best possible 
utilization of the developing countries 1 resources) together with free trade vrith 
all countries for their agricultural products. Clearly, the solution of 
comparative advantage could not be viable if there ivas protectionism on the part 
of the industrialized countries. In Chile, continued grmJth in food production at 
current rates was predicated on an increase in fruit-r,rmrinc; at the expense of 
grains. It 1vas unlikely, hmrever, that those rates could be maintained, bece.use 
of the imposition of export quotas by a group of industrialized countries in order 
to protect their domestic production. That >vould hold back the development of the 
food sector by preventin~ expansion in the area of e;reatest profitability. It 
would also lead to a louer rate of growth in employment" since five times as much 
manpow·er was needed for fruit-·grmrinc; as for cereal production. 

42. Any limitation on the exports of the developing countries would have a 
negative effect on their capacity to import the food they needed. The reduction 
of their foreien currency earnine;s would also tu1favourably affect national 
development efforts, vhich 1-rould in turn impede their efforts to reduce poverty and 
hunger among the neediest groups. His delegation therefore shared the deep 
concern of the Horld J:i'ood Council at protectionist trade practices vrhich affected 
the agricultural exports of developing countries" to the industrialized countries 
in particular. General Assembly resolution 33/90 had specifically requested the 
Horld Food Council to study the impact of trade) including the protectionist 
measures harming the exports of the developing countries, on the solution of the 
food problems of the developing countries and put forward specific recommendations 
in that respect. It l·ras not enough simply to ratify the initiatives taken by 
UNCTAD at its fifth session. The Council should consider the topic again at its 
forthcorung sixth session as a matter of the highest priority. The Committee of 
the Hhole had attached special importance to trade in agricultural products, and 
it had been agreed that it \vas essential for the developed countries to make every 
possible effort for the adjustment and restructuring of those sectors of their 
agricultural and manufacturing economies that required protection against 
developing country exports. It had also been recomr1ended that the Generalized 

/ ... 



A/C.2/34/STI.2l 
~nGlish 
Page ll 

(!.1r. ~Jalker .. Chi~e) 

System of Preferences should be extended to a wider range of manufactured and 
semi~manufactured products, including the greatest possible number of agricultural 

commodities. 

43. Those recommendations had not received full recognition in the Council's 
report. It ~oras essential to enhance the contribution that trade could make to the 
solution of food problems. The Council should therefore make specific 
recom~endations to the developed countries for the gradual restructuring of the 
agricultural sector so as to facilitate access to their marl<;:ets for food and 
africultural products which developing countries could export either in processed 
form or in their natural state. The Council might also review and evaluate at its 
next session the results of the multilateral trade negotiations with respect to 
agricultural products. 

h4. His delegation endorsed the Council 1 s recommendation regardinr: the need to 
inform public opinion in the developed countries of the negative effects of 
protectionist trade policies on their own standard of living, as well as on the 
development possibilities and import capacity of developing countries. ~·1ore 

information on the negative effects might encourage effective action to change 
those policies. 

45. Mr. VALTAS.AA_RI (Finland), speaking on behalf of the delegations of Denmarl<;:, 
Finland, Iceland, Norway and Sweden, said it had been generally agreed at the 
fifth session of the Horld Food Council that the current vrorld food situation i·ras 
far from sa tis factory, with more people than ever suffering from hunger and 
malnutrition. It had also been agreed, however, that there had been some 
encouraginr; developments. Horld grain production and grain reserves had reached 
record levels in recent years, and there had been an increase in per capita food 
production in a number of developing countries. 

46. Against that background, the Council had taken some important steps tmrards 
a more action-oriented approach to the solution of world food problems. It had 
endorsed the common vievr of the developing and developed countries on the 
importance of giving the highest political priority to food questions and had 
recommended the formulation of food sector strategies as a crucial instrument for 
national food planning. It had also stressed the importance of direct action to 
overcome malnutrition and achieve a more equal distribution of food. The Nordic 
countries had always maintained that considerations regarding food production must 
ahrays include explicit considerations regarding its distribution. 

47. The J'.1arch session of the Committee of the 1rlhole had been the first occasion 
on which a committee of the General Assembly had devoted a full session to food 
and agricultural matters. The text of the agreed conclusions adopted at that 
session had become useful reference material for such important meetings and 
conferences as the Horld Conference on Agrarian Reform and Rural Development, 
various FAO meetinr,s and the fifth session of the Horld Food Council. 

~8. In considering solutions for the ivorld food problem, it was important to 
distinguish between short-term and long-term perspectives. In the short term, 

/ ... 



A/C.2/34/SR.21 
En,cr,lish 
Page 12 

(~_0:-. Valtas?Lari, Finland) 

considerable efforts must be made to overcome the acute crlsls of hunger and 
malnutrition. A sufficient flow of food aid must be secured, effo~ts must be made 
to establish a new Food Aid Convention with a substantially higher level of food 
aid, and appropriate international emergency reserves must be kept on a permanent 
basis. In the long run, how·ever, the aim was to secure a continuous and sufficient 
flovr of food within the developing countries. That meant, among other things, 
hi~her levels of self-reliance in food production" the creation of decentralized 
storage facilities and improved infrastructure, together with an over-all increase 
in the real income of the neediest population eroups. That could only be achieved 
w·ithin an over--all inte~rated rural development effort which was part of a national 
development process. 

49. In that connexion, the Nordic countries welcomed the General Assembly's 
endorsement of the important Declaration of Principles and Programme of Action 
adopted by the 1-Jorld Conference on Agrarian Reform and Rural Development. The 
Prograrmne of Action, which stressed the importance of development based on groHth 
with equity, of integrating the broader population groups, not least women" into 
the national development process and of securing more equal access to productive 
resources, was a guideline for future development efforts and should be reflected 
in the new· International Development Strategy. It was encouraging that the 
developing countries had indicated an interest in evaluating development processes 
in the light of the results of that Conference, and FAOc in co··Operation with 
other United Nations agencies, should assist them in that task. 

50. It 1vas generally agreed that overcoming the food problems in the developing 
countries was primarily the responsibility of those countries themselves. 
lim-rever, their task could be eased by increased assistance from the developed 
countries and by concerted international efforts, and the Nordic countries were 
fully aware of their responsibilities in that regard. 

51. Miss GARCIA-DONOSO (Ecuador) said that the International Development Strategy 
for the Second Development Decade had set a target of 4 per cent annual. grmrth in 
agricultural production in the developing countries. In 1974, the World Food 
Conference had agreed on means whereby the developed and developing countries 
could take concrete action to eliminate hunger and malnutrition and overcome food 
deficits. However, those goals had not been achieved; the developing countries 
as a whole had attained an average growth of 2.7 per cent in the period 
1971~1978, and available statistics showed a decline in agricultural production in 
the last four years in all three regions of the third world. 

52. Economic under-development was the fundamental cause of the food problem. 
Other factors, such as population c;rowth, could affect it at a particular moment 
and in specific areas of the world, but they were not the determinants. Thus, the 
solution of the food problems of the developing countries required simultaneous 
action on the many fronts related to economic and social progress. The developing 
countries 1 own efforts could not suffice without international co-operation in 
re,cr,ard to production" consumption, security, exchange rates, redeployment, 
standardization of prices, and secure markets for agricultural products. 

/ ... 



A/C.2/3l!/SB..21 

Bne;lish 
Par~e 13 

53. The Government of Ecuador, for example, had given high priority to inte,a;ratinr; 

and strengthening activities in regard to food supplements and nutrition 

education, and had paid special attention to programmes to combat nutritional 

diseases'. yet its efforts had been insufficient to eliminate the problems because 

of a lack of resources and because it had not been possible to develop ar,ricultural 

production fully. Considerable international support -vras needed to expand the 

infrastructure~ train specialized personnel and brine: integrated multisectoral 

programmes into full operation. 

54. A more efficient use of resources for ancl investments in food production 

might result from the stabilization of international prices and guaranteed access 

to external markets for the food products of developing countries. It "l·ras 

therefore essential that, firstly, the developed countries should abandon 

protectionist or dumping policies, and, secondly, that reserves of certain food 

products should be accumulated in those countries not simply as ~art of a system 

of price supports but as a factor in easing the world supply of a8ricultural 

products. 

55. The establishment of a joint fertilizer reserve to alleviate shortages in the 

developing countries was a matter of urgency, as was the implementation of 

programmes to increase fertilizer production capacity in those countries, 

56. International agreements designed to ensure for importers a permanent supply 

and for food commodity exporters a permanent demand, at reasonable prices" should 

help the developing countries to expand their exports on the basis of a sustained 

world market. All developed countries, whether -vTi th market economies or centrally 

planned economies" should par+icipate. 

57. The Declaration and Programme of Action on Agrarian Reform and Rural 

Development was an important step towards the adoption of integrated programmes 

for rural development in accordance with national policies. The activities of the 

Horld Food Council to advance the implementation of the Programme of Action to 

Eradicate Hunger and Malnutrition, and the resolutions adopted by the Horld Food 

Conference, were also of value. All the activities of the various organs,. 

agencies and programmes in the United nations system dealing 1vith matters of food 

and agriculture complemented each other in helping the third world countries to 

eliminate hunger) poverty and the danfSer of a l·rorld w·i thout food. 

58. Mr. DOMOICOS (Hungary) said that the report of the ;·Jorld Food Council gave no 

cause for optimism~ there was no assurance that the bumper crops of recent years 

could be sustained, and some 450 million people still suffered from hunger and 

malnutrition. In most of the low-income countries, the rate of increase in food 

production was not only behind that of population growth but was actually falling. 

In the second half of the 1970s, the chronic food problem had been further 

aggravated by unfavourable trends in the world economy, including protec~ionist 

practices by the capitalist developed countries. The eradication of hun,cser ancl. 

malnutrition called for a wide ran.~Y,e of actions at the national and international 

level, directed at ensuring a rapid rate of agricultural developrr1ent. 



A/C.2/34/SR.21 
Enr,lish 
Page 1~ 

( Hr :__Do_moko s ,, Hunr;a=Q[.) 

59. Hungary today prortuced 83.7 per cent more aericultural products than before 
the socialist reorganization of agriculture some 25 years earlier. Labour 
productivity had increased still faster~ and the number of persons employed in 
agriculture decreased annually. As a result, the country~ s food needs i·rere met 
and a['\riculture "i·ras also an important factor in foreign trade. Clearly, the 
development of agriculture was fastest in those countries that consistently carried 
out progressive socio·-economic reforms. The implementation of democratic land 
reforms_ the introduction of economic planning as well as State and co-operative 
farminG:, and the dissemination of high-yielding seeds and high--quality breedinr, 
stock were fundamental to creatin':l: a firm basis for adequate food supplies. His 
delegation therefore regretted that the conclusions and recommendations of the 
fifth session of the Horld Food Council had failed to emphasize those factors. 

60. On the other hand, his delegation endorsed. the view that the developing 
countries shoulo give higher priority to food questions w·ithin the over,all aims 
and objectives of their national development plans. Appropriate development in 
agriculture could not be assured except in harmony lvith other sectors of the 
national economy. Similarly, the food strategy approach could be successful only 
if it sought a solution to food problems in the context of the long-term 
development of the national economy as a Hhole. Short-term measures were at best 
a palliative. 

61. Although international co~operation could only be of secondary importance w-hen 
compared to national efforts, it was still indispensable~ and international trade 
was one of the most important fields of such co--operation. The elimination of 
protectionist and other measures that hampered international trade, and the 
stabilization of world market prices, would be a direct contribution to the 
solution of food problems as well. International trade at stable prices and free 
of restrictions would stimulate agricultural production and result in increased 
export earnings" which in turn could facilitate the import of the technology 
needed for agricultural development in the developing countries. 

62. Hun~ary recognized the importance of international aid as well as trade and 
had contributed on a voluntary basis to the Horld Food PrograLJIDe. Technical 
co--operation 1-ras also important, and the developing countries themselves "i·rere 
gaining experience that could be used to advantage in other countries. His 
delegation had been glad to note that India) a large developing country which had 
itself faced serious food problems at an earlier stage., had novr accumulated 
valuable experience in agricultural development >·rhich it was willing to share with 
others. Hunc;ary had lone; been active in technical co--operation in agriculture. 
Recently, following careful preparations with UJITDP and FAO" agricultural 
co~-operative management training courses had been started for agricultural 
specialists from African countries. Hungary ifas ready to share its experience in 
other areas also. such as inshore fisheries. Efforts to build stable forms of 
international co~ operation in that field were already under way. 

63. The maintenance of international peace and security was closely related to 
the international aspects of the effort to solve the food problem. Hungary shared 

I ... 



A/C. 2/3~L/8R, 21 
English 
Page 15 

(! l_!'. Domok():S_, __ Ry.nf5_ary) 

the concern of the \!orld Food Council at the rapid increase in military 
expenditure o and supported the idea that a part of the funds that 1wuld be 
released by cuts in military budgets should be allocated to acceleratin~ the 

development of the developinc countries and increasin~ their food production. 

64. In conclusion) he emphasized his delegation's full agreement vrith the joint 
statement made by the socialist countries represented in the Horld Food Council 

at the time of the adoption of the conclusions and recommendations of the fifth 

session of the Council. 

65. Mr. LAZAREVIC (Yugoslavia) said that it appeared quite certain that the world 
in gen~ral anc1 many developing countries >-rere heading for an increasingly serious 

food situation. The deteriorating food prospects of developing countries, 
especially of the food-deficit countries, reflected the failure of the 
international community to take action to attain the objectives set by the Uorld 
Food Conference. His delegation di0, however~ realize the need for developing 

countries themselves to undertake such action as might be required to stimulate 
food production., especially through such measures as agrarian reform and rural 

development projects. 

66. The international community had identified the main obstacles to increased 
food production in the developing countries. Houever, proe;ress on the 
implementation of various measures which would open up the prospects of a world 

without hunger and malnutrition had been uneven and in certain areas slovr or 
negligent. Uhile an appropriate reorientation of the international efforts to 
increase food production Has needed, that did not mean that other areas of 
economic development of developing countries, such as industrialization, should be 

neglected. Efforts to accelerate the over-all development of developing countries 
should be intensified., and to that end donor countries should increase their 
contributions both to the international fertilizer scheme and to the special 
account of the FAO Action Programme for Prevention of Food Losses. 

67. In order to minimize the consequences of recurrent shortfalls in production 
as a result of climatic and other factors, a world food security system vras 

necessary. His delegation accordingly regretted that the recent conference to 
renegotiate the International Hheat Agreement had not succeeded. That should not o 

however, prevent the conclusion of a nevr food aid convention as the key element 
in world food security. 

68. International trade 1ms an important factor for increasing the production of 
food and other agricultural products in developing countries. Greater access to 
the markets of developed countries must be ensured for the exports of developing 
countries, since increased exports of food and other agricultural products to those 

markets would have beneficial effects on both developed and developing countries. 

69. The best vray to increase food production in developing countries was for each 
country to establish a deliberate policy to accord absolute priority to food 
production. At the same time, efforts should be made to institute the required 
social and other changes vrhich 1vould broaden the involvement of the population in 
the development process. 



A/C. 2/31>/SR. 21 
:Cne;lish 
Page 16 

70. Hr. VILLEGAS (Colombia) said that recent studies by FAO and the Interc-,American 
Development Bank shmred that in Latin America the rate of growth of per capita 
food production 1vas slackening. One cause was the rapidity of the process of 
urbanization in Latin American countries. The fact that in 1979 63 per cent of all 
Latin A~ericans lived in urban areas had brought about higher demand for food; 
hunger and malnutrition_ 1-lhich -vrent unnoticed in rural areas, -vrere all too obvious 
in urban shanty .. towns. The problem, even vrith a probable fall in the birth-rate, 
vrould assume even e;reater proportions tmvards the end of the century; -vrhen the 
ratio of rural/urban population would be 1; 1~. 

71. In most of the developing world, rural areas lacked the technoloeY required 
for efficient agriculture~ in some countries with food problems, for example, 
cultivation practices that caused soil erosion still prevailed, gradually reducing 
the land. 1 s productivity. Such advances as there had been in agricultural production 
had been due to increasing the area under cultivation rather than to improved 
productivity. Lov productivity, a result of inappropriate technology, highlighted 
the need to intensify the transfer of know··hot:r and technology to developinu; regions 
so that, with the support of international agencies and the countries themselves, 
their progress tmrards self-sufficiency in food could be accelerated. 

72. Another approach to be pursued in seeking solutions to the food problem -vras 
to encourage agro,industries in all developing countries. To that end, what Has 
required was external co ·operation in the form of capital goods, financial and 
technical assistance, and the prompt implementation of decisions adopted in the 
United Nations and other forums concerning grants and concessional lending. 

73. The FAO's Seed Improvement and Development Scheme should be endorsed by the 
Committee: his delegation hoped that it would bring about a sustained increase in 
productivity in the developing regions and thereby provide a substantial part of the 
solution to the food problems of mankind. Another key element of the solution Has 
adequate supplies of fertilizers. 

7lf. ~vith ree;ard to international trade, a subject which had received special 
attention at the most recent session of the Horld Food Council, the paramount need 
was to eliminate as soon as possible the protectionist practices which affected 
not only the export prospects of developing countries and, as a result, their 
over·-all development efforts, but also consumers in the developed countries 
themselves 3 who had to pay higher prices for protected products. The 
liberalization of trade policies in developed countries would also contribute to 
easing inflationary pressures in their economies. Many developing countries, 
including Colombia, were endeavouring to liberalize their own import policies in 
the certainty that a more open and just international trade system would be 
beneficial to the 1wrld community in general. The Horld Food Council and other 
bodies should keep under constant review the influence of trade on the world food 
situation so that, in a world constantly struggling to eradicate hunger and 
malnutrition, advantage could be taken of opportunities for co··operation among 
developing countries in food matters at the bilateral, regional or subregional 
levels. 

/ ... 



A/C.2/3h/SR.21 
Enr:lish 
Pa~e 17 

( .!'i_r~_Vil_=!:_ep'-a_f32 _ Cc lc t1b_i_e.:) 

75. His delegation believed that uhile a food surplus policy 1-ras essential in 
order to assist countries 1-rith food problems) it was only a short -term device. A 
sound lonc;--term solution required 1vorld agricultural equilibrium in Hhich there 
1wuld be a fair exchange, uith each area supplyinr; those products that ~Vere most 
suitable for its agricultural conditions, produced by the best technology available 
to mankind, without regard to frontiers or levels of development. 

76. Mr. FORNARI (Italy) said that his Government, as an indication of the 
importance it at-tached to the world food problem, had, vrhen announcing the doubling 
of its official development assistance, earmarked a large share of that financial 
aid for the food sector. That assistance would be provided in a multilateral 
context o which Italy believed was the best way to achieve practical international 
co~operation. 

77. His Government intended also to utilize its ovm experience in the expansion 
of food production and agriculture in the search for solutions to uorld 
agricultural problems. It had accordingly created a neiv department for technical 
co-operation with developing countries within the Ministry of Foreign Affairs with 
a five--year budget of about ::;370 million, and most Italian bilateral assistance for 
development vrould be channelled through that body. 

78. His Government attached great importance to the principle of more equitable 
distribution of food resources and to devising practical mechanisms to achieve 
that end. Specific ~uarantees should be provided for the supply of 10 million tons 
of cereals per year. There should also be a reform of much of the existing 
international trade machinery 1vith a view to achieving as rational a distribution 
as possible· that problem vras, of course, closely linl;:ed to the need for gradual 
restructuring of productive activities with a view· to more rational and equitable 
international distribution of labour. Its very complexity, however, should prompt 
the international community to take specific measures that were already feasible, 
such as the establishment of infrastructures for the storage of a~ricultural 
products in developing countries. Moreover, action to increase productivity) with 
a vieu to facilitatin~ self-reliance in the third world, should not be vie1-red as an 
alternative to action aimed at more equitable distribution of existing resources: 
both activities, one short-term and one for the future, should proceed 
simultaneously, as should the financial commitments required to implement them. 

79. M_!. FOLI (Ghana) said that his delegation fully shared the view· of the 
Executive Director of the 1Jorld Food Council that,. although the worlcl. food 
situation might appear to have improved, it was actually deteriorating at a deeper 
level. That assessment vras an indictment of the professed goodwill of the 
international community, especially of the vast majority of its fortunate members, 
to help the poorer ones. The world food situation was illustrative of the 
retro~ression that characterized relations among members of the human family. His 
delegation hoped that the eradication of hunger and malnutrition would be an 
important element of the third international development strategy, and. he appealed 
to all concerned to ensure that that objective was attained ~Vithout delay. 



P)C, 2/31~/SR. 21 
English 
Page lG 

()\1r. FSJli , Gha_!l.§;_) 

80. His deler,ation agreed that the long-~term solution to the -vrorld food problem 
lay in the stimulation of food production in developing countries, It therefore 
emphasized the ure;ent need for the adoption of food sector strategies which would 
tal:e full account of the conditions peculiar to the individual countries concerned. 
The adoption of such strategies should not, hmrever, be a pre· ·condition for 
granting aid for food production. 

8L The food problem could not be tackled successfully without a massive increase 
in external assistance. vhether in the form of finance, machinery, seeds, 
fertilizers or other ar,ricultural inputs, In that connexion, his delegation 
expressed its appreciation of the Canadian Government's action in settinr:; up a 
special fund of (:>2 million devoted to technical assistance for aiding the 
preparation of food strategies. 

82. For the time being, it appeared difficult, if not impossible, for national 
self--sufficiency in food production to be achieved in certain areas of the 1wrld, 
Consequently, a determined regional or subregional approach should be adopted as 
the most practical means of dealing -vrith the situation, His delegation urged the 
international community to do its best to assist Africa in its efforts to translate 
the ref~ional food plan into reality so that all Member States could attain the 
desired self-sufficiency within 10 years. 

83. His delegation believed that measures aimed ··at ensuring equity in the 
distribution of the world's food should be taken seriously at both the 
international and national levels: that implied launching a purposeful attack on 
the underlying problems of storage, transport and finance which accounted for many 
developing countries' failure to ensure fair distribution within their ovm borders. 
The problem of food reserves was closely linked 1vith that of food distribution, 
and it was a matter of regret that, while the developing countries found it 
increasingly difficult to satisfy their growing needs, the 1vorld' s food reserves 
were concentrated in a fe1·r countries belonging to a single geor,raphical area. 

84. The performance of the international comrnunity in the area of food security 
1-ras not encouraging. In the light of his mm country's experience, his delegation 
vrelcomed the Horld Food Council 1 s decision to press for a ne-vr Food Aid 
Convention at substantially higher levels than the current 4.2 million tons 
stipulated in the 1971 Convention. It did not believe that the provision of food 
aid should in any way be contingent upon the conclusion of a new International 
Wheat Agreement. Pending the conclusion of a neu Convention, his delegation fully 
supported the FAO Five ·Point Plan of Action on 1vorld food security, 

85. Hith regard to the question of food trade" his delegation welcomed the 
initiative tru:en at the fifth session of UNCTAD and hoped that the decisions taken 
at that session would be speedily implemented. 

86. Mr. IITIKOLAEV (Union of Soviet Socialist Republics) said that the serious world 
food problem co~id not be solved -vrithout more rapid growth in a{:',ricultural 
production in developing countries, an equitable world distribution system and ,just 

I ... 



A/Co 2/3lr/SR" 21 
Enc;lish 
Par;e 19 

(~r" I'IJ.Jsolaev LY§_?R) 

reforms in the developing countries themselves" A further requirement was that 
Hestern imperialist States should abandon the neo.,colonialist policy of solvinr; 

their economic problems at the expense of the developine; countries" 

87. His clelec;ation fully ar;reecl that the solution required measures by the 
clevelopinr; countries themselves to develop their economy and agriculture and to 
eliminate social inequalities. As had been stated at the Horld Conference on 
.Agrarian Reform and Rural Development, agrarian reform was a prerequisite for the 
development of agriculture. Other prerequisites 1-rere the elimination of the 

dominance of foreign capital, and the introduction of high~-yield food crops and 
modern machinery. Success -vmuld depend on hov consistently the developing 

countries follm-red the proc;ressi ve recommendations made at that Conference and in 

other United Nations forums. 

88. Equally essential in tad:linc; the problem >ras to establish an organic linl~age 
of ar;riculture to all other sectors of the national economy, and those countries 

which made progressive reforms in the structure of their systems would succeed in 
eliminatine; hunc;er and malnutrition. The process of reform required the transfer 

of leadership to the State sector, the nationalization of foreie;n enterprises and 
the assumption of sovereignty over the country's natural resources. 

89. The ideas put fonrard by his delegation uere based on the Soviet Union's 
experience" His country had certainly experienced difficulties with agriculture, 

but: by concentrating on developing its own resources, it had in a short time 
eliminated hunger and malnutrition. The substantial c;rm-rth in food production in 
recent years >wulc1_ have been even better but for adverse 1-reather conditions. He 
realized that such rapid progress implied heavy expenditure~ in that respect the 
Soviet Union had been able to rely on its mm resources. 

90. Food and other -vrorld problems could be solved more rapidly if the objectives 
of world peace and security, the non~use of force, disarmament and a reduction in 

military budgets were achieved. At the tenth special session of the General 
Assembly) his delec;ation had reaffirmed that it was prepared to reduce its military 
budget. The Horld Food Council at its fifth session had drmm attention to the 

possibility of usinr; funds thus saved to provide food aid to develJping countries" 

The Soviet Union vould do its utmost to make that possibility a reality. 

9L As lone; as the capitalist countries, the source of economic crises, continued 
to transfer their difficulties to developing countries, the problems would not be 
solved. The economies of the developing countries were beine; jeopardized by trade 

barriers in the developed countries and the activities of transnational 
corporations. All those activities ran counter to the objectives of the new 

international economic order, the Charter of Economic Rights and Duties of States 
and the proposals of the Horld Conference on Ac;rarian Reform and Rural Development" 
Special attention should be paid to measures to stabilize the prices of ae;ricultural 
products on the world market. The Soviet Union had repeatedly stated that it Has 
prepared to contribute constructively to international co-operation to regulate 
vorld food prices. 

I .. " 



A/C.2/34/SR.21 
Enelish 
Paee 20 

(Mr. I'Iikolaev:, USS~) 

92. Measures 1.rere needed to provide the developing countries with adequate food 
supplies, and the position of the socialist States on that issue had been stated 
at the fifth session of the 1Jorld Food Council. They 1.rould continue to assist 
the developing countries to develop their ac;riculture. \lith their help" land 
clearinc; and irric;ation projects and the establishment of agrictlitural institutes 
\vere already under way in many of those countries, and the Soviet Union -vras 
providing agricultural traininr; for their nationals. It -vrould continue to 
co--operate -vrith those countries in such ways. 

93. Mrs. MORGEJIJTHAU_ (United States of America) said that her country 1 s economy 
was built on agriculture, -vrhich was crucial for balanced social and economic 
development. Despite high energy costs and inflation, the United States 
commitment to end 1.rorld hunger remained firm. Special efforts -vrere needed to 
achieve that goal. Even under normal circumstances 0 hunger regularly affected 
almost half a billion of the world 1 s people. By the year 2000, population grovrth 
was likely to upset even further the precarious balance bet1veen population and 
food supply in the lovrest'"income countries. The international community was 
probably aware of its collective responsibility for what was lvrong· it had within 
it the capacity to build the institutional arrangements on which both an encl to 
hunger and steady equitable progress towards balanced development depended. 

94. In that context, the outcome of the fifth session of the Horld Food Council 
was especially important. The Council's conclusions and recommendations 
concentrated on feasible solutions to the problems of world food security. It had 
emphasized the development of national food sector strategies to ensure that all 
food-related progrrunmes contributed to a common national goal. A similarly 
comprehensive approach had been recommended ITith a vie-vr to reducing malnutrition. 

95. The Council had made important decisions in the area of world food security. 
It had recoe;nized that there was no longer any reason to hold up negotiations for 
a new food aid convention. Her Government supported the new convention 1 s goal of 
10 million tons in c;uaranteed annual food aid and had increased its pledge to 
4. 47 million tons. It hoped that ne>v donors 1voulcl subscribe to the new convention 
so that the goal could be achieved" and was encouraged by the Canadian Government's 
decision to join the reneived negotiations on the convention. 

96. '.fue Horld Food Council had also called upon the Horld Bank and FAO to assess 
food security infrastructure needs in the food-priority countries, as a prelude 
to possible investment efforts. One subject requiring immediate attention 1vas that 
of international agricultural research. The research centres supported by the 
Consultative Group on International Agricultural Research (CGIAR) had made 
significant contributions to increased food production in many developing countries. 
The United States supported the goal of doublinc; the resources of CGIAR -vrithin the 
forthcoming five years. It hoped that new donors would join the traditional 
donors in meeting that objective. 

97. As matters stood, one third of the world's population ate t1vo thirds of the 
food produced. Clearly there were structural problems in agriculture to be solved: 
equity in distributing the fruits of development depended on access to land, 



A/C. 2/31~/SR. 21 
English 
Page 21 

(MJ:_s. M~:rr;e!lthau...LJI_ni_te~ S~_§.te~_) 

energy and technology and on the division of labour. vTithin national systems and 

subsystems, decisions were made as to who ate and l·rho went hungry, what was eaten 

and hmr much surplus remained for development. That was 1-rhy her Government 

strongly supportec1 the emphasis which the \'Torld Food Council had placed on the 

adoption of national food sector strategies by food·-defici t countries. So far, 

global concern had focused mainly on food involved in international transactions) 

rather than uith the 90 per cent of the existing food supply that 1ms locally and 

nationally produced ru1d consumed. Far too little was being done to encourage 

agricultural production by the vulnerable groups of the 1-TOrld, though it uas 

technically possible to make hunger obsolete and relief unnecessary. Village 

participation had not been effectively organized, and without it even structural 

changes did little to end rural poverty, since the benefits went to those who vrere 

already privileged. 

98. It vras generally admitted that existinc; international and national 

institutions had difficulty in being of direct service to lmT·-income villa(!;es, 

vrhere hunger vras prevalent. Non·-bureaucratic methods were more likely to produce 

the necessary communication and trust through Hhich more villagers became more 
willing to risl~ making changes. The existing multilateral and bilateral development 

institutions and proc;rammes should be adjusted to encourage self·~help, self·

reliance and ways of increasing production to benefit the hungry, not those 1rho 

already had enough. Of course each soverei(!;D Government had the right to choose 

from among varying development strategies, but food 1-rould not get to those in need 

unless at every level there vras a sharpened awareness of the inequity in 

distribution, together with an improvement of the tools for correcting the 1wrst 

inequalities. Only if the hungry fully participated in maldng decisions on which 

production, pricing and marketing depended, l·rould they get a share of any increase 
in production. 

99. Although advances in research had created the technical capacity to produce 

enough food, there was a need for applied research of a kind that 1muld allow for 

the accumulated experience of the low·-income farmers themselves, vrho vrere admitted 

to be very efficient 1vith the scant available resources. Their lmmrled~e should 

be incorporated into research, project desie;n and local planning for better 

production and equitable distribution. Low·- cost plans for self··help projects 

based on local participation might not materialize vrithout much more specific 

encouragement. In 1977 the potential role of Food Corps in providing the 

institutional support to local self-help projects among rural lOI·r-income groups 
had come to the attention of FAO and thereafter of the international community. 

Since then, the Food Corps concept had been widely discussed and various national 

formulae were emerging. Food Corps projects uere on the drawing·-boards in at least 

nine low···income countries, vrhere planners were receiving useful counsel from 

experts from other developing countries, in an admirable example of technical 

co·-operation among developing countries. Encouragement should be given to such 

efforts to help low--income countries in the preparation of their national food 
strategies. 

I ... 



A/C. 2/3!f/SR. 21 
:Cn~lish 
Pae;e 22 

(~1rs. Hore;enthau_, Unj_tE.:i.:.St~t_e~) 

100. Too often o development projects 1vere drafted and manac;ed by people 1fhose 
interests \vere primarily bureaucratic or technocratic. uho thought in terms of 
expensive personnel or costly equipment beyond the reach of small farmers. The 
latter 1·rere left out of project desi,~n and out of the subsequent share of the 
benefits. It was time for the international coronnunity to place lmv··income farmers· 
at the centre of the plannine; process and to insist that all programmes passed a 
test posed in human terms. 

101. J>1r. FREYBEH_Q. (Poland) said that despite some sic;ns of improvement, the uorld 
food situation continued to deteriorate .. affectine; most seriously the majority of 
the developinp, countries, particularly those 1rhich vrere net importers of food. 
They vrere confronted w·ith sharp increases in the prices of imports such as c-rheat, 
and ~Vith grmving protectionist practices introduced by a number of developed 
countries in the field of agricultural trade. Those practices had a direct 
ner,ative effect on the ability of the developinc; countries to earn foreign exchanf,e 
to pay for food and other imports. At its fifth session the 'Horld Food Council 
had expressed deep concern at the increase in such practices and at the lack of 
progress in international negotiations to solve the problem of agricultural 
exports. Those problems needed to be solved urgently 1n order to combat 
effectively the hunger and malnutrition prevailing in so many parts of the world. 

102. The question of agricultural development and the importance of the food 
sector l·rithin the context of over~all economic and social development had been 
discussed at various United l'Tations forums in 1979. The Horld Conference on 
Agrarian Reform and Rural Development had stressed the need for structural changes 
in that field. International measures aimed at improving the world food situation 
should be accompanied by greater mobilization of domestic development resources 
for the restructuring of the a~rarian sector and for the introduction of social 
reforms leading to more equitable distribution. It had been his country's 
experience that agrarian reform constituted one of the essential components of 
proe;ressive social change and vras a prerequisite for stable economic growth. In 
view of the need of many developing countries to increase their mm food 
production and to eliminate or at least substantially reduce denendence on food 
imports, agrarian reform ~Vas of decisive importance. It >·ras difficult to imagine 
full implementation of the nei·T international economic order without the 
introduction of agrarian reforms uhere needed. 

103. A closely related problem 1fas that of world food security. His Government 
recognized the importance of establishing international grain reserves, which Hould 
help to stabilize prices and make it easier to satisfy grain needs in periods of 
bad harvests. There ivas, hmrever) the crucial issue of financing the imports of 
food·-deficit developing countries. Efforts should be concentrated primarily on 
strengthening the food production capacity of those countries, which would be the 
most effective contribution to their over·-all economic and social development and 
vrorld food security. 

101~. ~J:.r. Tm'lBA (Zaire) said that his Government attached particular importance to 
agriculture" food nutrition and rural development. Food production had not kept 

I ... 



A/Co 2/3L>/SRo 21 
Enc;lish 
Par,;e 23 

pace Hith population r;rovth in the developinc:; countrieso If they 1,;rere to meet their 

food needs, proc;raFJIQing and co~ordination by the international commL:Lnity anc1~ the 

international institutions concerned vere required" His delegation had ahrays 

surmorted ef2'orts to eradicate uorld hunc;er and malnutrition and felt that t~1e nei·T 

ro;_~md of [';l6Dal nec:otiations proposed by the Group of 77 could provide a useful 

framevork for the effective consideration of such questions. Since the problems 

of food and rural development had aluays adversely affected the economic e;rovTth of 

the developint'; countries 9 they should be dealt vri th in the context of the 

establishment of the neu international economic ordero Piecemeal rescue efforts 

uere inadequate larc;e·-scale effective action anc~ a.pnropriate policies anC:~ 

strategies 11ere called foro 

105. In Zaire the development of the au;ricultural sector \·ras one of the key 

priorities o:f:' the r.Jobutu Plan. It 1ms because of the importance attached to that 

sector that his delegation had not hesitated to become a sponsor of draft 

resolution A/C.2/3h/L.G on the Horld Conference on Ac:rarian Reform and Rural 

Development. Appropriate measures should be taken as a matter of urr;ency to enable 

the developinc: countries to reach the \TFC tarc:et of a )_~ per cent annual grovth 

rate in agricultural production. His delegation Has mindful of the assistance 

vrhich could be provided by the International Fund for Agricultural Development and 

other international institutions, such as the Horld Food Proc;ra!'llne. It supported 

the FAO Fi ve~Point Plan of Action on 1wrld food security, lvhich shoull~. help the 

international community to deal -vrith emerr:;ency sit~ations. In Fe.tJruary 1979, 

efforts to conclude a nev international Hheat agreement had failed" Accordingly, 

his delec;ation unreservedly supl)orted the HFC proposal to raise the tarc;et of the 

International Emerc;ency Reserve to 750,000 tons by 1981 :md thanked those countries 

uhich had pledged contributions to the Reserve for 1980. 

106. The protectionist barriers imposed by the inclustrializecl countries against the 

food exports of the developing countries reduced the capacity of the latter for 

economic development. His delec;ation supported all efforts for a total 

liberalization of international tracle in accordance vrith the principles of the 

General A~reement on Tariffs and Trade. 

107. J'1r. YE Caivren (China) said that since the Horld Food Conference in 1974, 

througl1 the arduous efforts of the developine; countries, some progress had been 

achieved in food production and certain developed countries had provided the 

developinc; countries vrith assistance for food and ac;ricultural developmento 

Hovever, such basic objectives as the elimination of hunc;er and malnutrition had 

remained unfulfilled: in fact, the situation had actually c;rown 1wrse in certain 

caseso 

1080 In order to solve their problems of poverty and hune;er, the developing 

countries needed first of all to develop their national economies and increase 

food production on the basis of individual and collective self--reliance. At the 

same time it uas true that many developing countries, lon~ oppressed and 

exploited, uould have to overcome serious financial, economic and technical 

problems before they could reach the tarr:;et of a 4 per cent annual grm·rth rate ln 



A/C.2/34/SR.2l 
English 
Page 24 

(Hr. Ye Cahren" China) 

agricultural production. In such circumstances, international assistance was 
necessary. The developed countries should give serious consideration to the 
recommendations and demands of the developing countries and assume their 
ineluctable responsibilities in that rec;ard. The relevant international orr,ans 
should continue to help the developing countries to develop their agriculture and 
overcome food shortages. 

109. Some developed countries -vrere imposin,q; all ldnds of tariff and nonc·tariff 
barriers against the exports of the developing countries, especially their 
manufactured industrial goods. Consequently, the share of the developing countries 
in world trade w·as continuing to decline and their revenues -.;v-ere decreasing. The 
developing countries demanded the elimination of protectionist measures, the 
improvement of the terms of trade for their agricultural products and the increase 
of their export earnings. The key to the solution of the food and agricultural 
problems of the developing countries lay in the necessary establishment of the new· 
international economic order and the restructuring of the existinr, unfair and 
irrational international economic system. 

110. Despite the many successes of the socialist reform of agriculture in China, the 
accomplishments still fell far short of the needs of the Chinese people and the 
requirements for the socialist modernization of the country. China fully realized 
that only by accelerating the development of ar,ricultural production and the 
gradual modernization of agriculture would it be possible to bring prosperity to 
the farmers, \·rho account eeL for 80 per cent of the population, and to promote the 
vigorous development of the over-all national economy. The Central Committee had 
recently prescribed a series of acricultural policies geared to actual conditions 
in China, thereby providing a powerful impetus for mobilizing the socialist 
enthusiasm of the farmers and strengthening agricultural development, and it was 
anticipated that the grow·th rate of food production 1vould be even higher than 
before. 

llL Hhile China uould continue to uphold the principle of self·~reliance in the 
development of its agricultural production, it 1.ras also I.Jilling to exchange 
experience with other countries and to learn from them. It was prepared to 
strengthen its co .. operation -vrith the competent organs of the United Nations system, 
raise its agricultural production, solve its food problem and make its 
contribution to the establishment of a new international economic order. 

112. _The CHAim'lA~I said that the Committee was in danger of fallinr: behind schedule. 
He did not intend for the moment to propose a limit on the time to be allmred to 
speakers, as provided for in rule 106 of the rules of procedure. However, he was 
relying on the understanding and collaboration of all members of the Committee in 
focusing their remarks on the major aspects of the items under consideration. 

AGENDA ITEM 58: UNITED NATIONS INSTITUTE FOR TRAHTHTG AND RESEARCH: REPOHT OF THE 
EXECUTIVP. DIRECTOR (A/34/ll+:, A/C. 2/34/L. 'T) 

113. Hs. MENON (Singapore), introducing draft resolution A/C.2/34/L. 'T on behalf of 
the sponsor;:-said that Argentina" Canada, Chile, India, Portugal, Saudi Arabia, 
S-vreden and Zambia had nmr joined in sponsoring the draft. 



A/C. 2/34/SIL 21 
En[';lish 
Par;e 25 

( ~Ls_. Men~.!lJ_J3j.np,a-por~_) 

llL: .. The draft resolution aclmmrledged the value of UNITAR~s research and its role 
in assistinG I'lembers of permanent missions to the United nations and other national 
officials concerned uith the Hork of the United Nations. Herr]_ber States and 
orGanizations -vrere called upon to provide c;reater and -vrider financial support to 
UNI'J'J\.R, so as to enable it to continue its commendable 1wrk. She hoped that, as 
at the thirty -third session, the draft resolution on IDTITAR 1wulrl be adopted by 
consensus. 

115. Jl;fr. BAHGUR~ (Sierra Leone) said that, in appreciation of the role played by 
UI'TITAR over the years and in the light of the principles and objectives of the ne·H 
international economic order, his delegation ivished to join in sponsorinc; draft 
resolution A/C. 2/31:/L. 7. 

ll6. J1r. SC:F-TIJEISGUT (Austria) said that the introductory statement by the Executive 
Direct-or of UNITAl\ together -vri th his annual report (A/34/lL~), had clearly brouc;ht 
out the scope and dimension of the Institute:s expandinc; activities. His 
dele[Sation Has pleased to note that UIJITAR had further concentrated its attention 
on issues related to the establishment of a ne-vr international economic order. It 
also found the various trainine; courses of great value. IDTITAR had undertaken 
important 1vorl\: in connexion -vri th the Project on the Future, a field in vhich it 
could make a most useful contribution to the 1vork of the United Nations 3 

particularly in respect of international co~operation for development. 

117. Austria 1 s co--operation vrith UITITAR had been a very satisfactory experience. 
The annual conferences at Schloss Bernstein iVere remarl:able for the timeliness of 
the topics chosen, the high qualifications and expertise of the participants, 
the atmosphere of frank and productive dialogue and the e:~cellent reports emerging 
from the discussions. That had again been demonstrated by the 1979 seminar on 
financial arrangements for the promotion of science and technolo[SY for 
development. The seminar and the studies published by UI'TITAR on those and related 
matters had undoubtedly made a significant contribution to the preparations for 
the United Nations Conference on Science and Technolo[SY for Development. 

118. His Government 1.ras also pleased to note that, in recent years, the Institute's 
training programmes had been developed in a manner which took into account the 
special needs of Member States. He wished to refer specifically to the seminar 
for young diplomats from developing countries on multilateral diplomacy and the 
ne-vr international economic order held at the Diplomatic Academy in Vienna in 
Nay 1979. His Government 1vould be pleased to continue to offer Schloss Bernstein 
and the Diplomatic Academy for similar UNITAR conferences and seminars. It 
would gladly co--operate with UNITAR in any other form or area deemed useful and 
would continue to cGntribute to UNITAR's General Fund. It was in that spirit 
that Austria 1vas co~sponsorinG draft resolution A/C. 2/34/L. 7. 

The meetinr, rose at h.35 -p.m. 




